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Lian Shan Shuang Lin Monastery
The Lotus Mountain Double Grove Monastery

45.1. Brief Introduction to the Monastery fi<¢#fi§ifv
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Lian Shan Shuang Lin Monastery is located along Kim Keat Link in Toa Payoh. The
monastery was built in 1898. This is the first Buddhist monastery of Singapore, and the
temple includes the full range of monastic buildings, and contains many examples of
Buddhist art. With its even and balanced courtyards, the monastery is a fine example
of traditional Fujian architecture. The origins of the monastery can be found in the
Minor Record of the Western Chan Monastery, printed in the ancestral temple back in Yishan,
Fuzhou. According to this source, there was a family of 12 surnamed Xiao living in Hui’an
county of Quanzhou, all of whom were vegetarians. When the sons of the family grew
older, they wished to “leave their family” and become ordained as Buddhist monks. Not
only did their parents agree, they also made a vow and built the Qingyin (Clear Sound)
monastery and the Qingde An (Pure Virtue Monastery), enabling the men and women to
live separately in tranquility. In 1887, the entire family entered the Buddhist faith through
the auspices of the Abbot of the Western Chan Monastery, Abbot Weimiao. The eldest
son, named Xianhui, and his brother Xinghui, were the immediate successors of the
Yishan Linji Chan Lineage. In 1892, the two monks, Xianhui and Xinghui, together with
their mother, Buddhist Nun Cimiao, their sister, Nun Chanhui and their cousin Nun
Yueguang — in total 12 people — traveled on a pilgrimage to India. Their boat continued on
to Sri Lanka, where they practiced meditation and self-cultivation for six years on Mount
Lanka. After descending from this mountain retreat, they went to Burma to spread the



Dharma. In 1898, they prepared to return to China, and then travel to Penang, Malacca,
and Singapore. Just at that moment, Low Kim Pong (1837-1909), a leader of the Hokkien
dialect community, and his son both dreamt of golden men coming from the West, and
awaited them at the pier. When he saw Master Xianhui and the others, he believed that
they were the figures foretold in his dream. He invited them to accept his offer of worship.
He generously donated land and invited skilled craftsmen, carpenters, masons, painters
and carvers from Hokkien, who were asked to imitate the form and style of the Western
Chan Monastery in Fuzhou. Master Xianhui was invited to serve as the abbot. That same
year Low Kim Pong prepared the site and built the Zhulin An (Pearl and Jade Nunnery),
to provide a place for the nuns in the family. Sadly Masters Xianhui and Xinghui passed
away one after the other in 1901 and 1902. It proved impossible for their mother, Nun
Cimiao, to remain in Singapore. Therefore she transferred control of the monastery
over to Master Mingguang, and then took her remaining family members back to Fujian.
Before leaving she erected a stele entitled “The Origins of the Lotus Mountain Double Grove
Monastery” in which she recounted the history of the monastery. In 1903, the members of
the monastery board of managers published an announcement of a contribution drive
to complete construction of the monastery in the Lepao (Singapore Newspaper), requesting
additional assistance from local and foreign supporters. In 1904 they began work and in
1907 completed the construction of the Main Hall (Hall of the Great Treasures), as well
as other halls including the Hall of the Heavenly Kings, the Drum and Bell Towers, the
Mountain Gate, the rooms along the corridors, the kitchens, the guest house, the Qielan
Hall, the Hall of the Ancestral Masters, the Abbots Quarters, and the Chan Meditation
Hall. All this construction was completed by 1909, when the monastery was in magnificent
shape. Since the artisans came from different regions including Minnan, Mindong, Hui’an
and Chaozhou, each was able to contribute their own traditional craft to the project. This
led to an overall monastic complex which mixes several regional styles, creating an unique
ensemble. This vast construction project took over 11 years to complete, at a cost of
over 500,000 Singapore dollars. In 1918, the beams and rafters of the monastery began
to show signs of decay, and the towers became damaged. Abbot Puguang advocated
for a restoration project, and he received support from the son of Low Kim Pong
and Liu Qixiang. Two years later, after the completion of the repairs, he composed
the stele entitled Stele record of the restoration of the Lotus Mountain Double Grove Monastery.
In 1950, another restoration project was carried out at a cost of over $100,000. In the
1970s, due to an infestation of termites, the temple structures were seriously damaged.
Many rafters were hollowed out by termite damage, and the monastic buildings were in
peril. The government building regulatory agencies issued official warnings, forbidding
visitors from entering damaged buildings. Because much of the original buildings were
lost in earlier repair operations, in 1991 a plan to “Restore the original monastery” was
initiated by the current serving Abbot Wei Yan. When this plan was adopted, at the
recommendation of the Taigu Construction Company architectural consultants, Chinese
craftsmen from Fujian were invited to use the best craft techniques available to restore
the fine quality of the woodwork in the temple. This project was begun in 1991, and was
completed in 2002. The monastery was renewed and restored to its former magnificence.
In 2016 Abbot Wai Yim completed another major restoration of the monastery.
The name Shuanglin (lit. Double Grove) refers to the two sala trees (one verdant
and the other withered) between which the Buddha entered nirvana. Thus another
possible translation of the name of the monastery would be the Twin Tree Monastery.

1011



| Chinese Epigraphy in Singapore : 1819—1911
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